1949

Le Roy Shelby and Adan Thornock v. Nick Chournos : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal involves the question “What rights, if any, has the owner of grazing lands to protect the same against wilful and continuous trespassing of livestock?”

Plaintiffs, as co-owners of 36 head of steers, filed this action against defendant, seeking to recover damages alleged to have been sustained and caused by defendant when he allegedly wilfully, maliciously and intentionally drove said steers for a space of many miles, and wilfully, maliciously and intentionally scattered said steers over a wide area of land. Plaintiffs further alleged that steers, when driven by defendant, were ready for market, and that when they were found some weeks later they were footsore and in poor condition,

caused by insufficient pasturage and water, and that said steers lost an average weight of 125 pounds each. It is to be noted that plaintiffs base their right to recover upon two separate propositions, each of which it is alleged contributed to their loss: First, that defendant wilfully, maliciously and intentionally drove the steers off his premises; and Second, that he failed to furnish them sufficient feed and water to keep them in tip-top shape after they were driven off, and that as a result of both concurring causes the steers lost an average weight of 125 pounds each. This matter will be more fully discussed under the subject of Damages.

The defendant filed his answer and counterclaim. In his answer defendant alleged that from about June 10, 1946, plaintiffs turned the steers loose, knowing that they would trespass upon defendant's premises, and that said steers continuously trespassed upon his premises until they were removed. Defendant admitted that on several occasions he had driven said steers off his property to prevent further trespasses and averred that he adopted the usual and ordinary methods required in driving steers off the range.

As a counterclaim, defendant sought to recover damages caused by said wilful, continuous trespasses from about July 1, 1946 until the latter part of October, 1946. The Court sustained plaintiff's demurrer to the counterclaim on the theory the trespasses complained of did not arise out of the transaction set forth in the complaint, nor was it connected with the subject of the action. The counterclaim was thereupon dismissed and the case proceeded to trial on plaintiffs' amended complaint. No question is raised on this appeal as

to the Court's sustaining of said demurrer, although we do believe much can be said in favor of the fact that the trespasses complained of were connected with the subject of this action. The case was tried to the Court sitting without a jury and the Court entered findings and judgement in favor of plaintiffs and assessed damages in the sum of \$534.60.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The evidence, construed most favorably in favor of plaintiffs, disclosed that defendant is the owner or lessee of approximately 16,000 acres of grazing land situate in the mountainous area to the West of Woodruff, Rich County, Utah. This land extends from the lower foothills to the top of Monte Cristo. It is adaptable for Spring, Summer and Fall grazing for his sheep.

Plaintiff Shelby is the owner of approximately one section of land located entirely within the defendant's holdings. See defendant's Exhibit 2 and plaintiffs' Exhibit B.

Shelby has no water of any kind or character upon his land. Defendant has springs and watering places on his property on practically all sides of plaintiff's lands. Plaintiff had a portion of his land fenced, which he referred to as his pasture. The rest of his land has a one wire fence on two sides and the other sides were left entirely open. Plaintiff purchased the steers in question on June 10, 1946. At that time they averaged 786 pounds. The steers were shipped and trucked to the Shelby homestead and turned into the pasture. They were sold on October 26, 1946, averaging 932

pounds and sold for \$16.50 per hundred. (Tr. 3-4) On September 29, 1946 (the day of the alleged driving) it was estimated that they had gained about 240 pounds, which, if correct, would have made them average 1026 pounds, or 96 pounds more than their actual weight when sold on October 26th. (Tr. 6)

Plaintiff Thornock estimated that the steers lost between 90 and 100 pounds between September 29th and October 26th. (Tr. 7) Plaintiff Shelby estimated that on September 29th they would average 1000 pounds. (Tr. 66) (Note that when sold they averaged 932 pounds, or a difference of 68 pounds each.)

The actual weights produced by plaintiff showed that when sold the steers weighed 33,560 pounds, or an average of 932 pounds each. Therefore they made an average gain from June 10th of 146 pounds.

During the time the steers were kept in the enclosed pasture they were driven over defendant's land to water. According to Shelby, on August 19th he turned his steers out of the pasture into his outer premises which were only partially enclosed by a one wire fence and was entirely open on two sides. (Tr. 51) From then until September 29th the steers were allowed to roam at will on and upon defendant's property.

Shelby of course knew that his steers would not remain on his property. He further knew that they would go upon defendant's property both to graze and to obtain drinking water. There can be no question that from August 19th to September 29th Shelby knowingly and wilfully allowed and permitted said steers to continuously trespass upon defendant's property, to graze

upon his lands, tramp around his springs and watering places, and otherwise damage his property. These lands are located in Woodruff Precinct, which has a fence law. Defendant maintains a tight fence along the East end of his property about one-half mile East of Shelby's homestead. (Tr. 80) It has been the custom of the defendant to ride his range in order to protect it from trespassing animals. Shelby testified that on the afternoon of September 29th he and his wife rode out to gather up the steers, preparatory to selling them; that they found 17 head. They turned them through a gate and that the steers went on down to Millie Spring (admittedly located on defendant's premises. (Tr. 55) Defendant was riding his range and came upon these steers and a few other strays. They were on his property in the vicinity of said springs. He admits he drove them Northward to the North boundary of his property. The only dispute in the evidence is that defendant contends he drove them off on the afternoon of the 28th, while plaintiff contends it was the afternoon of the 29th. The only person who saw defendant drive any of the steers was Leonard Longhurst. He was going up the Monte Cristo highway (this public highway traverses defendant's property) to a round-up. He met defendant just below Millie Spring, driving some cattle. (Tr. 20-23) He stated defendant appeared to be in a hurry. His dog was chasing the cattle and they were on the trot. Witness went on up the highway, met Shelby, told him defendant was driving his steers down the road. Other witnesses stated that they were on Strawberry Ridge fighting a fire the night of September 29th. They saw these steers about four miles from Shelby's home (Tr. 26)

Francis Frazer, called by defendant, stated he saw these steers on the evening of the fire on Cut-Off Ridge. They were then on defendant's property. No one was driving them. This was four or five miles from Shelby's home. (Note these steers were picked up by defendant on his own property down by Millie Spring, not in the vicinity of Shelby's home.)

With respect to the balance of the steers, no one saw defendant driving them. Defendant admits, however, that he drove them off his property on several occasions. This bunch was grazing on his property to the East of plaintiff's homestead. They watered at defendant's spring to the East. Defendant drove them East about one-half mile to his East fence and put them through his gate and closed the gate. (Tr. 80) Defendant testified that in driving the animals he drove them in the usual and customary manner; that this is an irregular, mountainous country; and you can't drive cattle off without the use of a dog. (Tr. 78 and 90)

Although others saw the 17 steers and plaintiff knew where they were driven, he claims that it took him several weeks to gather all of them together before they were sold on October 29th. The evidence is that he placed the steers in pasture until he had them all gathered together. This is a brief summary of the evidence except that of the expert Peart. (Tr. 28-35) Over defendant's objection, the Court permitted him to give an opinion as to how much two-year old cattle put on a range would gain in weight. (Not these steers, but just any cattle.) He further testified that cattle should not be driven over 2½ miles per hour or over twenty miles per day, and that cattle driven 2½ miles per hour will

shrink 4%. That steers should be sold by the first of October, because when frost comes the feed is not so good and they lose their bloom. (Tr. 37).

Upon the foregoing evidence, the Court found that by reason of defendant's wilful and malicious acts, the entire 36 steers lost an average of 90 pounds each, and entered judgment for the sum of \$534.60.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

UPON WHICH THE APPELLANT RELIES FOR A REVERSAL OF THE JUDGEMENT APPEALED FROM.

1. The Court erred in making and entering Finding No. 1.

2. The Court erred in making and entering Finding No. 2.

3. The Court erred in making entering herein the following portion of Finding No. 4.

“...drove said steers therefrom and for a considerable distance beyond the boundaries of defendant's property and scattered them among the breaks and brush and into a locality where there was insufficient feed and water for their proper subsistence.”

4. The Court erred in making and entering herein the following portion of Finding No. 5.

“Defendant came upon the remaining 17 head of steers upon a public road near a water hole known as Millie Spring.”

Also the following:

“...and then and there wilfully and maliciously drove said 17 head of steers from said water hole and for a distance of four to six miles and scattered the same among the breaks and brush and in a locality where there was then and there insufficient feed and water for their proper subsistence.”

5. The Court erred in making and entering Finding No. 6.

6. The Court erred in making and entering herein Finding No. 7.

7. The Court erred in making and entering herein Finding No. 8.

8. The Court erred in making and entering herein Finding No. 9.

9. The Court erred in making and entering herein Finding No. 10.

10. The Court erred in entering its Conclusion of Law No. 1.

11. The Court erred in entering its judgment in favor of plaintiffs and against defendant and in assessing their damages in the sum of \$534.60.

ARGUMENT

Assignments No. 1 to 9 inclusive.

We desire to first discuss as a group Assignment No. 1 to 9. While we admit that this is an action at law, yet it is our contention that there is no competent evidence to support these findings. We shall briefly consider the same.

1. Finding No. 1 can find no support in the evidence. Shelby testified himself that on August 19th he turned the steers out of the enclosure, while defendant claimed it was much earlier, but there certainly is no evidence that he kept the steers in an enclosure up to September 29th, nor is there any evidence that the steers were not released except for driving them down a public road to water prior to September 29th. In the first place there is no proof of the existance of any public road leading from Shelby's property to any water over which plaintiff could drive said steers without trespassing upon defendant's property. This must not be confused with the Monte Cristo highway, which admittedly is a public highway.

Shelby himself admits that after August 19th and continuing to Septemebrr 29th the steers were turned out of the pasture, and into an unenclosed area which contained no water, and that they could and did roam at will over and upon defendant's property.

2. There is no evidence that on September 29th plaintiff released the steers from the enclosure. The evidence is that on September 29th he and his wife rode out to gather the steers, not in his enclosure, but wherever they could be found, and that they found the 17 head and brought them back to plaintiff's enclosure.

3. We don't know what the Court means by the use of the word "maliciously" in Finding No. 4, nor can we see its materiality. We admit the defendant intentionally drove the steers off his premises. Is it a malicious act to drive trespassing cattle off one's property? If so, can it make any difference whether the

driver acts maliciously or not? We readily admit that there apparently was no great mutual love existing between plaintiff and defendant, probably they hated each other, but do their feelings in any way control one's right to remove trespassing animals? There is no evidence that defendant drove any of said steers a considerable distance beyond the boundaries of his property. All of the witnesses who saw the 17 head on the night of September 29th placed them as being on defendant's property near his Northern boundary. There is no competent evidence that defendant drove the other steers beyond his enclosure on the East. Nor is there any evidence that defendant scattered the steers among breaks or brush. If they became scattered among brush and breaks, it is certain that this happened after defendant ceased driving them, because the 17 head were seen on the night of September 29th all together and not in brush or breaks but on the ridge, working back toward Shelby's property. Nor is there any evidence that defendant left the steers where there was insufficient feed or water. The plaintiff himself testified that the steers became mixed with other cattle. Clearly they were grazing upon adjoining grazing lands.

4. There certainly is no evidence that the 17 head of steers were on a public road near Millie Spring when the defendant drove them off. Millie Spring is located on defendant's land. The evidence is uncontradicted that the steers were trespassing upon his lands when he drove them off. Nor is there any evidence that defendant drove these steers four to six miles. The evidence is that the steers were seen on the ridge on the night of September 29th, about four miles from Shelby's home. (Tr. 26 and 69) Defendant did not drive the

steers from Shelby's home. They were picked up by him in the vicinity of the Spring and there is no evidence as to the distance from the spring to where the steers were seen. It is clear, however, that it would be less than the distance from Shelby's homestead, and we have already called attention to the fact that there is not a scintilla of evidence that these 17 steers were scattered by defendant among the breaks and brush or placed in an area where there was insufficient water or food.

5. We submit that there is no evidence that the defendant drove the second bunch, 19 head, which he turned through his East gate, at an excessive rate of speed or that he caused them to run or become overheated, exhausted or footsore. Plaintiff claims that he found these 19 head some weeks later in the brush and breaks. He doesn't even suggest that they were either overheated, exhausted or footsore, nor does he suggest that there was any evidence that these 19 head had been abused while driving and we submit there is little evidence to sustain the finding as to the 17 head which were driven to the North. It is interesting to note that no witness who saw the steers on the night of September 29th on the ridge while fighting the fire even suggested that they had any appearance of being abused. They were grazing unmolested on the ridge.

6. There certainly is no evidence to sustain Finding No. 7. Plaintiff and his wife intentionally permitted the 17 head to stray upon defendant's premises without any herder. As to the other 19 head, the evidence is clear that they were not driving nor herding them when defendant drove them off his premises.

7. There is not a scintilla of evidence that on September 29th, the day it is claimed defendant drove said steers, that the market value was 16½c or any other sum. The only evidence in this record is that on October 29th when the steers were sold, they were sold for 16½c per pound.

8 and 9. There is evidence, if believed, that the steers shrank about 90 pounds between September 29th and October 29th, when they were sold. How much, if any, was caused by excessive driving, or how much was caused by lack of proper feed and water during that month, or how much, if any, was caused by reason of the fact that the feed had lost its potency by frost, are all matters of pure speculation. This will be further discussed under the subject Damages.

Having briefly discussed the Findings and pointed out wherein they are not supported by any competent evidence, we shall now discuss briefly the law of the case. Probably as good a statement as any can be found in

3 C. J. S., page 1300, Section 189:

“Even in the jurisdictions where a land owner is bound to fence against trespassing animals, he may drive them from his lands irrespective of whether or not they are fenced, by the use, however, of only such force and means as are reasonably necessary.” Citing cases.

The author then goes on to say:

“Ordinarily if the land owner lawfully drives trespassing animals off of his premises, he is not liable because he drives them in a direction opposite to that of their owner’s premises, and if the

animals enter from the highway on remote premises the land owner may return them to the highway on unenclosed lands and will not be liable for any injury thereafter suffered by them, especially where the injury is the result of the owner's negligence in failing to care for them after notice of their situation."

The author further states:

"A land owner's right to drive off trespassing animals includes the right to use dogs for that purpose if no unnecessary injuries are occasioned thereby."

The subject is also discussed in

2 American Jurisprudence, page 786,
Sections 125 and 126.

For an interesting discussion as to the rights and responsibilities of the owner of premises against trespassing animals on quite a different state of facts, see the case of

Beinhorn vs. Griswold,
69 Pacific 557.

We doubt that there is any particular disagreement as to the law. We admit that the defendant had no right to drive the animals beyond the borders of his property and that in doing so he was required to use reasonable care, commensurate of course with the duties involved in removing the animals. We submit, however, he was not legally bound to furnish plaintiff's steers either feed or water in sufficient quantities to keep them in top-market condition. That these steers had been a constant source of annoyance cannot be questioned. That Shelby, after feeding them off his enclosed pasture, turned his steers outside the pasture upon his

unenclosed lands and intended that thereafter these steers would obtain both feed and water upon defendant's premises likewise cannot be questioned. Defendant for a number of years has been compelled to constantly ride his range to protect it from trespassing cattle. While so riding, he found, as he had on previous occasions, a bunch of these steers on his land East of plaintiff's property. He testified he drove these steers East about one-half mile, then put them through his gate and left them. There is no competent evidence to the contrary. He further testified he drove them in the customary manner. There is no evidence to the contrary. If, after driving these steers off his premises, they on their own volition wandered down into canyons where they were subsequently found, can defendant be held responsible? Was he bound to herd these steers or to furnish them feed and water comparable to his own premises after he put them through his gate? It is to be noted it is not contended that he placed them where they could obtain no feed or where they would starve. The evidence is clear that this entire area is more or less open grazing country. The plaintiffs seemed to contend, however, that the feed and water upon adjoining premises was not as good as that upon the defendant's premises and as a consequence their steers were not kept in prime condition like they would have been had they been permitted to continue grazing on defendant's property. Likewise with respect to the 17 head which he found on his property at Millie Spring. What were his rights? We submit he had a right to drive them off his property and to drive them Northward. Here again, after driving them off his premises was he responsible if they wandered off? Was

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