1949

Le Roy Shelby and Adan Thornock v. Nick Chournos : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

It will be observed that the only objection appellant voices is that the facts do not justify the verdict.

This case was tried to the court without a jury, and the rule in such cases is stated in 5 *C. J. S., Appeal and Error*, Sec. 1656 *acq*, at Page 687.

“When facts are involved the appellate court is extremely reluctant to disagree with the trial court and the latter’s findings are at all times given great weight and deference, particularly where the trial judge saw and heard with witnesses giving oral testimony.

Ordinarily the findings will not be disturbed if they are not clearly, plainly, palpably or manifestly wrong or erroneous. * * * * If examination discloses * * * * the findings are not wholly or totally without support in the evidence * * * * nor unreasonable, unsustainable on any reasonable theory or hypothesis * * * * the appellate court will affirm.”

With this rule in mind, let us examine defendant’s several points demonstrating that there is no reversible error in the record of this case.

1. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 1?

The evidence clearly shows on September 29th plaintiffs were the owner of thirty-six head of steers (see Exhibit C), and the evidence shows that they were on property enclosed by the plaintiff LeRoy Shelby. (Tr. 52).

2. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 2?

The evidence as stated before (Tr. 52) indicates that on or about 10:00 o'clock in the morning on September 29th, all of the steers belonging to the plaintiffs were on the plaintiff Shelby's property.

3. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 4?

Counsel professes ignorance of the word "maliciously". The word is defined by Webster as, "Characterized by or involving malice; having or done with or mischievous intentions or motives".

The facts at bar indicate that defendant drove seventeen head of cattle a space of four to six miles in an hour in a direction directly away from the owner's premises. Defendant expressed his intent only to rid his premises of the animals, but the facts show he could have called or returned the cattle to the owners in a matter of minutes, and could have driven them off his premises in a short distance, but instead, he drove them over his land and in a direction opposite to the land of the plaintiff (Tr. 77 and 86) for an admitted three and one-half miles, well knowing that some would return to the Shelby property because a milk cow was among them. (Tr. 86-88).

The facts as to the rest of the cattle indicate that defendant's horse was with them at a distance of five miles to the east of the Shelby property. (Tr. 47).

Defendant maintains he only wanted to drive them off his property, but the evidence shows that his east line is about one-half mile east of the Shelby property line, as is admitted by counsel at (Tr. 80). This would indicate he drove the cattle some four and one-half miles past his east line.

There is ample evidence that they were driven at a rapid pace. (Tr. 61-63).

The evidence further shows all the cattle were left in a rocky area where there was insufficient feed and /or water. (Tr. 47, Tr. 57-63).

4. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 5?

The defendant objects to that portion of the Finding as follows:

“Defendant came upon the remaining seventeen head of steers upon a public road near a water hole known as Millie Spring.”

and also:

“* * and then and there wilfully and maliciously drove said seventeen head of steers from said water hole and for a distance of four to six miles and scattered the same among the breaks and brush and in a locality where there was then and there insufficient feed and water for their proper subsistence.”

The facts as to the Finding of fact indicate that the first contention is erroneous in that the court found:

“Defendant came upon the remaining seventeen head of steers at or near a water hole known as Millie Spring.”

With reference to defendant's other objection to Finding No. 5, it is believed that this is fully discussed in the facts set out relative to Finding No. 4.

5. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 6?

Defendant's acts relative to the nineteen head have already been discussed in Paragraph 3 above.

However, as to the condition of all of the cattle, see Tr. 10.

“They looked pretty hard. They had a lot of rough treatment. They didn't look like the same cattle at all.”

Further the record is filled with evidence that the cattle suffered an average loss of ninety pounds. (Tr. 3-11, Tr. 64-6, Tr. 45-63).

6. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 7?

The evidence is that there was no reason for the cattle to trespass on or stray from the Shelby property, for the reason that Shelby had (Tr. 50) gone to great lengths to improve the grass and forage on his property by planting brome grass and crested wheat grass. Further, there was water for said cattle on leased ground of plaintiff immediately south of his main property. (See Exhibit “B”, Plaintiff's land marked in red).

7. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 8?

The evidence shows without question that the cattle were sold on October 29th for 16½ cents per pound,

and that but for the acts of the defendant, the cattle would have been ninety pounds heavier on that date. No other evidence was needed.

8. Did the trial court err in its Finding No. 9 and No. 10?

As appellant admits, there is ample evidence to find that the steers shrunk about ninety pounds apiece between September 29th and October 29th, when they were sold. Appellant raises a question as to how much of the damage was caused by the running and how much by the lack of food and water. As will be seen by the law hereinafter cited, these questions raise problems that are immaterial and irrelevant. The fact is that due to the defendant's wrongful acts, these cattle lost weight. How much of this loss is attributable to one wrongful act and how much to another is not a question of any merit. The only question is whether defendant's acts resulted in the loss, and the answer to that is an unqualified "yes".

9. Defendant makes a contention of error in entering Conclusion of Law No. 1 and in entering Judgment in favor of the plaintiffs and against the defendant and in assessing the damages in the sum of Five Hundred Thirty-Four and 60/100 (\$534.60) Dollars.

Therefore let us examine the law relative to the points now raised.

LAW

1. There seems to be a great deal of contention made by the defendant as to that part of Findings No. 1 and No. 2 that indicate that the cattle had been en-

closed for a substantial period of time and were released in an unfenced enclosure only the day that they were driven.

There is a great deal of conflict in the evidence relative to this, and some evidence to the effect that they had been out for a considerable period.

It is submitted, however, that these findings are immaterial and irrelevant to the cause of action before the Court, and were put in the complaint and the findings probably by reason of counsel for plaintiffs inexperience.

The sole question in this matter is whether or not the defendant came upon steers owned by the plaintiffs on September 29, 1946, and wilfully and maliciously and to become lost.

As regards to this question, whether they had been enclosed or in an enclosure for a period prior to the time of the acts complained of is irrelevant and not material to this case and further can have no injurious effect on the defendant's rights.

The law on this subject is found at 5 *C. J. S.*, *Section 1787, page 1192.*

“The mere taking of unnecessary and superfluous findings or the presence of error in findings on immaterial, irrelevant, or purely collateral issues is harmless and non-reversible error, if the judgement is otherwise sufficiently supported.”

“A judgement supported by proper findings is not vitiated by findings on immaterial points or issue, for example, on issues outside the plead-

ings or unsupported by evidence, or where whatever the findings on the issue it affords appellant no cause of action or grounds of defense, but is without legal consequence; such findings may be treated as surplusage and discredited not only in that action, but also in subsequent litigation.”

Further from 5 *C. J. S.*, *Section 1677, Page 810 and 811,*

“The rule as to those errors which are in principle collateral and without influence on the final result is that the record must not only establish the error but the party complaining with prejudice thereby; there must be an affirmative showing that it was not unlikely that the error effected the result.”

“The doctrine of harmless error is favored and will be applied whenever it is reasonable and safe to do so.”

As has already been submitted, the errors, that defendant now complains of, are collateral and do not influence the final result, or verdict, and further, it is to be noted that at no place in the brief of the defendant is there any affirmative showing that these errors, if errors they be, adversely affected his rights.

It is further submitted that this case was tried before a judge who had been trained in the profession of law, and as a consequence, would give little or no heed to any irrelevant matter that might enter into the record, and that the defendant is not and was not prejudiced by these findings.

The above law and argument might also be applied to defendant's seventh contention of error, namely, his objections to Findings No. 8.

2. The law relative to the principal issue presented by this case seems to be uniform, although all the cases which counsel has been able to find are relatively old cases. At 3 *C. J. S., Animals, Section 189*, it is found:

“A landowner has a right to drive trespassing animals from his land whether it is or is not enclosed, without being liable for any injuries to such animals, *if he uses only such means and force as are commensurate with and strictly limited by the existing necessity.* Further, *the right to drive off exists only to the extent necessary to prevent further injury to the landowner, and must be exercised with reasonable care to prevent unnecessary injuries to the trespassing animals.*”
(Italics added)

Again, at 2 *American Jurisprudence, Animals, Section 126*, it is found:

“A landowner has a right to exclude animals from his premises but in doing so, *he must exercises that degree of care to prevent injury that would ordinarily be observed by a prudent person, and if harm results to them from failure to exercise such caution, he is liable for damages to the owner.* He is likewise liable if he employs towards them any unnecessary violence. Moreover, *as this right of the landowner to drive off the animals is based purely on the principle of prevention, it ceases as soon as they have crossed the line marking the limits of his territory.* Thus, if a man drives cattle of another upon a highway in a direction to him known to be opposite to the owner's residence, and they are lost in consequence, he is liable for conversion, although he did not intend it.”
(Italics added)

In *Scott vs. Cates*, (North Carolina) 95 S. E. 551, the defendant shot certain bird dogs belonging to plaintiff, claiming that they were chasing a flock of turkeys and it was necessary to shoot in order to prevent the turkeys from destruction. The Court holding for the plaintiff, state the presence of the dogs on the premises of defendant gave him the right to drive them away but not to injure them unnecessarily, although they were trespassing. The Court further stated that it was erroneous to charge a jury that the burden was on the plaintiff to satisfy the jury that the shooting was unlawful and wrongful, and held at the same time, that the burden should be on the defendant to prove a legal excuse for his acts to the satisfaction of the jury. In other words it is interpreted by the Supreme Court of North Carolina that the acts are in the nature of an affirmative defense which defendant must prove and justify, rather than an action for the plaintiff to prove.

The reason is obvious that this must be so because such facts are peculiarly within the knowledge of only the defendant. Yet in the case at bar, defendant's only evidence is that he drove the cattle in the "ordinary manner" and he refused to explain what "ordinary manner" meant.

In the case of *Richards vs. Sanderson*, (Colorado), 89 Pac. 759, the defendant drove plaintiff's cattle, and the Court held to the effect that defendant would not be liable for damages in driving plaintiff's cattle off defendant's land if he did so without any unnecessary injury to the cattle, and held that in an action to recover actual damages for wrongful driving of plain-

tiff's cattle, it is immaterial whether or not before driving the cattle, the defendant in good faith took legal advice and was governed thereby in what he did.

In *Thompson vs. State*, 16 *Alabama* 106, 42 *American Reports* 101, the defendant was charged with killing hogs of the plaintiff while the hogs were in the act of eating, or destroying a growing crop of corn on the premises of the defendant. The Court held,

“Every person has a lawful right to defend his personal property, not for the purpose of redressing an injury already perpetrated, but purely upon the principle of prevention in the present and for the future. Yet this right, valuable and important as it is, must be commensurate with and strictly limited to the existing necessity.”

The Court found for the plaintiff and ordered that it did not make any difference how the hogs got on the defendant's land, whether by breaking through the fence, or by a gate that had been left open.

In the case at bar, it would seem that there is ample proof that defendant's handling of the cattle was not as an ordinary and prudent man would have done, but rather, that they were handled by a man who was very irate, angry, and determined to inflict some injury upon the plaintiff.

Counsel apparently gets a great deal of comfort out of a statement in *Corpus Juris Secundum* as follows:

“Ordinarily if the land owner lawfully drives trespassing animals off of his premises he is not liable because he drives them in a direction opposite to that of their owner's premises, and if the animals enter from the highway on remote

premises the land owner may return them to the highway on unenclosed lands and will not be liable for any injury thereafter suffered by them, expecially where the injury is the result of the owner's negligence in failing to care for them after notice of their situation."

An examination of the above statement indicates that the only authority for such statement is the case of *Humphrey vs. Douglass*, 11 *Vt.* 22, 34 *American Decisions* 668. For a proper examination of the facts in this case, it must be understood that this case was a rehearing of the case of *Humphrey vs. Douglass*, 10 *Vt.* 71, 33 *American Decisions* 177. The facts in this case indicate that two horses broke through an adjoining fence onto the property of the defendant, and that upon discovering them, he took them out to the road and turned them loose. There is nothing in the evidence to indicate that he turned them in an opposite direction to plaintiff's land. It would seem, therefore, that the decision quoted does not sustain the contention of the author of the *Corpus Juris Secundum* article.

It is further interesting to note that the case used as authority for the above decisions is that of *Richardson vs. Carr*, 25 *American Decisions* 56, 1 *Harrington* 142 (*Delaware*) wherein the Court says:

"If a cow be found trespassing on another's property, the owner of the property may impound her or sue for damages or drive her out; but in driving her out, he must use only necessary violence or he becomes himself a trespasser and liable in damages to the owner of the cow. If the defendant in this case beat the plaintiff's cow and mangled her with dogs, as he is charged, he

is a trespasser, though the cow was in his corn-field; and the plaintiff ought to have damages to the value of the cow if her death was occasioned by his act.”

It would seem that the only actual case that goes to the direction in which cattle or stock may be driven when being removed from one's premises is the case of *Tobin vs. Deal*, (*Wisconsin*) 18 N. W. 634, wherein it was held that if a man drives the cattle of another upon a highway in a direction known to him to be opposite to the owner's residence, and they are lost in consequence, he is liable for conversion, although he did not intend it.

It would seem, therefore, that there is no case authority for counsel's contention that the defendant had the right to drive the cattle in any way or in any direction that he chose.

It would seem, therefore, that upon examination of all the law available, the acts of driving animals off one's property must be done under the guidance of two requisites imposed by law, (1) the driver must only use such means and force as are necessary to drive the animals off his property, and that he is liable in damages for any unnecessary violence occasioned by such act, and (2) that the act of driving must be based purely upon the principle of prevention of present injury to his property.

CONCLUSION

The plaintiffs do not admit that there is any trespass in this case, but submit the evidence as to the seventeen head of cattle indicates that they were driven down

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